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TO: 

THRU: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

SUBJECT: 

A. Jerome Fletcher II, ICMA-CM, MPA, City Manager

Jason Yarborough, ICMA-CM, Deputy City Manager 
Chuck Speake, Public Works Director   

Rita Puglise, Real Estate Coordinator 

March 22, 2025 

Designation of the Turpentine Dock, Biscayne Plaza, and Charlotte Harbor Railway as Historical 

Sites 

The Historic and Cultural Advisory Board recently met on April 9, 2025, to review potential historic site designations 
within the City of North Port. During this meeting, the Board revisited site designation materials, including a response 
letter dated March 3, 2022, and discussed locations with notable ties to the City’s industrial history. Following discussion 
and review, the Historic and Cultural Advisory Board voted to recommend that the City Commission formally designate 
the following sites as historic due to their significant connection to North Port’s industrial past:  

• Turpentine Dock
• Biscayne Plaza
• Charlotte Harbor Railway

Designating these sites as historic would help preserve history and culture of the City of North Port, support 
environmental conservation efforts, and promote community engagement.  Should the City Commission approve the 
historic designation, the Historic and Cultural Advisory Board requests the City to proceed with the necessary steps to 
nominate these sites for placement on the National Registry of Historical Sites. 

Attachments: 

1. Response Letter dated March 3, 2022
2. North Port History PDF

CS/rp



Response to the North Port City Commission 
Regarding the Significance and Validation of 

Suspected Historical Sites within the City 

In response to the City's request for validation of the suspected historical sites within the 
city, dated 3 March 2022, the following is herewith presented: 

Turpentine Still Base and Dock 
1) A cursory research of the available documentation resulted in the following: 

a. The area of North Port in Sarasota County, between 1921 and the early 
1950's, was only addressed in the property rolls for the county as farm land 
and cattle range. Much of the land now occupied by North Port was purchased 
by A.C. Frizzell in the 1930s. He initially engaged in turpentine production, 
then when the pine trees died from over extraction of pine sap, he sold the 
lumber. When the land was cleared oflumber, he began raising cattle. 1 

b. In the early 1950s, Frizzell sold all of his land except 40 acres around 
Murdock, to the Yellowknife Bear Mines. Through a number of land sale 
transactions of various corporations, the land, approximately 80,000 acres 
encompassing both southern Sarasota County and northern Charlotte County, 
wound up in the ownership of General Development Corporation. 2 

c. The above accounts for the existence of turpentine production in the area. In 
order understand the status of the suspected turpentine still along and dock 
along the Myakkahatchee Creek, an explanation of the operation of turpentine 
production. 

2) There is a misconception that all turpentine was distilled in one location. This was 
impractical as it would require the transportation of the pine sap to a central location 
for distillation and then transportation to the distribution point. In order to preclude a 
double transportation, smaller stills, such as the one along the Myakkahatchee, were 
built. Thus the sap would be distilled into turpentine, barreled, and shipped to the 
distribution site. 

The validation of this site requires examination by a qualified archaeologist and/or a 
comparison of the still base with pictures and design drawings of an original turpentine still. 

As for the dock suspected of being used as a departure site for turpentine barrels, it can 
only be authenticated by a qualified archaeologist from pictures taken in 2008 and 2011, by a 
member of the Historic and Cultural Advisory Board. 

The significance of these stmctures is their tie to the City of North Port's historical link to 
the past history of one of the United State's most unique industries. 

1 Roxann Read, Images of America, Port Charlotte (Charleston: Arcadia Publishing, 2009), 45-54 
2 Ibid, 55-59 



Charlotte Harbor and Northern (CH&N) Railway 
1) The CH&N Railway was established in 1905 by the Peace River Phosphate Mining 

Company and ran from the now extinct town of Liverpool in Desoto County to the 

loading docks on Gasparilla Island (Boca Grande). According to a 1926 map of 

Sarasota and Charlotte Counties, the rail line ran through southeast comer of Sarasota 

County. The rail bed can be followed through Sarasota County from the county line at 

Hillsborough Blvd, along Raintree Blvd and continuing straight northeast after going 

under I-75 until reaching the Desoto County line. Also shown on the map is the rail 

stop, Evaland, within the confines of the county and along the rail line. According to 

several sources, Evaland was a discontinued post office, turpentine still and CH&N 

flag stop. 34 While the location of Evaland in Sarasota County is questionable, the rail 

line is not. 

The validation of this site is obvious. The rail bed (without rails or ties) still exists. As for 

the flag stop, Evaland, an archaeological research must be made as to its applicability as a 

historic site in North Port. 
Again, the significance of this site is its tie to the City of North Port's historical link to 

the past history of one of the United State's most important industries. 

In response to Manuel Abreu' s memorandum dated 18 December 2024, herewith replied: 

Reasons for designating Biscayne Plaza and Homes Built by General Development 

as Historical Sites/Structures 
Rather than develop an entirely new rationale for why the City of North Port should 

designate and preserve sites and strnctures, I took the liberty of using some of the guidelines I 

was directed to follow when I was a member of the Sarasota County Historic Preservation Board. 

I believe it defines the rationale for why the City should make such designations. It also provides 

some methods and processes for doing so with the definitions. 

We must keep in mind that the City is now over 50 years old, which is normally, both at 

the local, state, and national level, when many sites and strnctures are deemed historic. Marshall 

Groves' North Port's 50th anniversary book, Out of the Wilderness, The First 50 Years, is a great 

source for validating these sites/structures. 

3 History of Charlotte County, Chapter 94, p. 377 
4 1925 List of Businesses, R.L. Polk & Co. 



Presenter
Presentation Notes
The history of North Port subsequent to 1959 is covered in Marshall Grove’s book, Out of the Wilderness.



Archaeological sites within the city

Warm Mineral Springs Little salt Springs

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Both WMS (1977) and LSS (1979) are on the National Register of Historic Places and human presence has been documented at 13,000 to 12,000 B.C.E.



Warm Mineral springs

After the 16th century, for the most 
part, only native Americans visited 
this site

Rediscovered in the 1920s

Warm Mineral Springs Illustration 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Visited by Paleo-Indians between 10,000 and 12,000 Years ago. Evidence of habitation includes bone and shell tools, worked fossil shark tooth, a bone eyed needle, a socketed antler point and socketed bone handle. 




Little Salt Springs
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Presenter
Presentation Notes
Also visited by Paleo-Indians between 10,000 and 12,000 Years ago. Artifacts found at this site include socketed antler projectile point, a portion of a carved oak log mortar, and the head of a nonreturnable wooden boomerang carved from oak. Probably known to later Native Americans, but only discovered by white men in the 19th Century. Within close proximity to Little salt Springs is a 6000 year old Indian village. General development Corporation (GDC) transferred ownership to the University of Miami in 1982.




http://karamelik.eastlib.ufl.edu/projects/forum/aaj7320/little_salt.html


Peoples who inhabited the North Port Area

Paleo/Archaic Indian cultures

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Paleo/Archaic Indian cultures made camps near both Warm Mineral and Little Salt Springs and also along the Myakkahatchee Creek.



Peoples who inhabited the North Port Area
Timucuan Confederacy 

Mogoso and Ocita Tribes

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The Timucuan Confederacy tribes inhabited from the northern part of Florida to a line bordering present-day Charlotte Harbor and the Peace River. They were mound builders, sun worshipers, and agriculturalists. Some historians believe that the Calusas occupied the area of North Port, but compelling archaeological evidence proves otherwise.



People visiting the North Port area
The Europeans

1509 – Friar Juan Ortiz visits Warm 
Mineral Spring

Ponce de Leon may have visited

1539 – Juan Anasco explores the area of 
North Port

1560s – Juan Menendez d’Aviles explored 
up both the Myakka and Peace Rivers 
and the territory in between (the North 
Port area)

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Anasco was sent by Hernando de Soto to scout for a good landing spot and to make contact with the inhabitants of the Indian village of Ocita or Ucita. The village was near present-day Charlotte Harbor or on the Peace River and very near or in the North Port area. This was also the village that was de Soto’s camp just prior to the start  of his ill-fated 4 year journey through the S.E. and southern U.S.



Next arrivals to the North Port Area
The Seminoles

Arrived in early 18th Century

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The Seminoles were originally members of the Creek Nation which inhabited the Carolinas and Georgia. There is little evidence of Seminole habitation in the area other than signs of their presence along the Myakkahatchee Creek. .



People of the North Port Area
The Americans Arrive

United States acquires Florida from 
Spain – Adams-Onis Treaty in 1819

American settlers began arriving in 
the 1830s and 1840s

--

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The United States got East and West Florida in addition to lands in the western U.S. for $5 million. The Adams-Onis Treaty would be signed and ratified in 1821. Settlers began coming concurrent with the advent of the 2nd Seminole War in 1835 or just after that conflict.



North Port Area’s evolving landscape
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Presenter
Presentation Notes
From 1823 until the establishment of Sarasota in 1921 the North Port area resided in 3 counties. Alachua – 1823-1834; Hillsborough – 1834-1856; Manatee – 1856-1921



Statehood
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Presenter
Presentation Notes
Florida Achieved statehood in 1845, three years after the end of the 2nd Seminole War. The 1st Governor of Florida was William Dunn Moseley




The Civil War years 
1861-1865

Confederate Meat Provider

Yankees in the South

Presenter
Presentation Notes
In the 1860s and throughout most of the Civil War, much of the land in and around North Port was government owned and open range for cattle raising. The primary customer for beef during the C.W. was the Confederacy, even though most of the cattlemen were opposed to slavery. One of the only Civil War events to take place in the North Port area occurred on 24 December 1863 when Captain Enoch Daniels, USN,  led 15 rangers to occupy and conquer the country between Charlotte Harbor and Tampa Bay. They began at the mouth of the Myakka River and headed inland, quite possibly through the North Port area.




During the mid to late 1800s there were several possible owners of land in 
the North Port area:

Ziba King (shown), Joel Knight, James Whidden, Francis C.M. 
Boggess (shown), Joseph  Durance, Francis A. Hendry (shown)

Presenter
Presentation Notes
In order to accurately determine land ownership after the C.W. research must be done in the property records of Manatee and Sarasota Counties. 



In the late 1800s and early 1900s, much of the land in 
Northern Charlotte County and the North Port area was 
acquired by the Florida Land and Improvement Company.

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Florida Land and Improvement was a consortium of British and Dutch investors. The land they owned was comprised of both woodlands and prairies.




Early land barons in Northern Charlotte County 
and North Port Area

John M. Murdock 

A.C. Frizzell

Presenter
Presentation Notes
John Murdock moved to the area of the same name in 1912 where he had 80 acres, some of which may have been in North Port. A.C. Frizzell moved to Murdock around 1918 and began to build a mammoth ranching empire. He accumulated some 80,000 acres.



A.C. Frizzell’s North Port Lands

Frizzell’s timber land Big Slough, better known as the 
Myakkahatchee Creek 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
This is looking across much of what is now North Port



A.C. Frizzell’s North Port Lands

Little Salt Spring
Myakkahatchee Creek

From another angle

Presenter
Presentation Notes
These pictures and the two previous pictures were taken in the 1920s as promotions for real estate sales. In 1954 Frizzell sold 80,000 acres of his land to the investment firm of Yellowknife Bear Mines Ltd. Of Canada. The partnership of Yellowknife and the Mackle Bros. had already been formed by 1950. After merging with Chemical Research Corp. of Delaware, a subsidiary was form called General Development Corporation…developer of North Port.



A.C. Frizzell’s North Port Lands
Frizzell engaged in cattle raising, turpentine production, and 
lumbering. Many of these enterprises occurred in the North Port 
area.

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Interestingly, Frizzell’s lumber venture began after the same pine trees that were bled of the sap which was distilled to make turpentine died. Being the astute businessman, he harvested the dead and dying trees and processed and sold the lumber. Again as the businessman and with the trees gone, he began to raise cattle on the, now barren land.



Warm Mineral Springs in the 20th Century

Florida land boom of the 1920s

1920s – Warm Mineral Springs was 
purchased by Mrs. Lilly G. Brown

Mrs. Brown sold her holdings to two 
real estate developers in 1946

Warm Mineral Springs was again sold 
in 1955

The city of North Port and Sarasota 
county purchase the Springs in 2011

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Land in the northern reaches of today’s North Port were bought and sold by land speculators during the land boom. Mrs. Brown’s 450 acre purchase occurred either just prior to or during the 1920s Florida land boom. The developers tried to develop home sites in the area, but their capital was limited and they were unable to attract buyers. The sale in 1955 resulted in the Springs being converted into commercial venture as a spa and tourist destination. The ownership of the Springs by N.P and the county has since changed hands to become a joint government/private partnership.



Tamiami Trail (US 41) Through North Port
Construction of the trail began 
in Miami in 1916

282 miles from Tampa to 
Miami

Completed on April 25, 1928

Main commercial artery 
through North Port

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The trail is bordered on both sides through North Port by several historic sites. This picture is of the intersection of Tamiami Trail and Rt. 776 in Murdock. The land on the left hand side of the picture is part of North Port.



Already Noted:
Warm Mineral Springs
Little Salt Springs
Native American villages/campsites along the 
Myakkahatchee Creek

Little known or unknown sites…



Little Known or Neglected Historic sites
Turpentine Dock along the Myakkahatchee Creek

Presenter
Presentation Notes
When these pictures were taken in April 2009 there was much trash in and around the creek. In early February 2011 after another trek along the creek…nothing has changed.



Little Known or Neglected Historic sites
Turpentine Still foundation in close proximity to the Dock

At left – 1920s Turpentine Still
Below – Foundation of Still

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Picture on the right – notice brick work around concrete base. As in 2009, again, in Feb 2011 the foundation contained trash.



Little Known or Neglected Historic Sites

Charlotte Harbor and Northern 
(CH&N) Rail Line through North Port

CH&N Rail bed along both Yorkshire 
and Raintree Streets in North Port
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Presenter
Presentation Notes
The rail line, constructed from Boca Grande to Arcadia cut through North Port in the very southeast corner of the city. A few of the old maps indicate another stop between Mars and Platt. This stop, Evaland, may well have been in today’s North Port. Note: the rails and ties were removed in the 1970s.



The Architecture of the 1950s

These illusrrorions were prinr~<l ii, brochures adverti,in_~ the different housin~ types that Mad.Ir 
Brothers Construction built in Pon Charloue. These typically 800-900-,q,w e-l<K>t homes boo,ted 
one, cwo1 and three bedrooms \vilh carporu~, paLiof, anJ pon.:\u;~. A v:iricry of hon:sing St } le~ 
were offewd. In plann ing l'ort Cl1adotte, the Mackle Brothers utilized 1960s state-of-the-art citv 
r l:mning ro..:)li:._ A long with :;ingle1 fomily retirement homes, they planned and conslructed parks, 
chun:hes, ~hopping c~nt~r:s, golf c.:uurse:s, boat ramp!), roaili, anU water. :sewer, gas, and power lines.. 
Fran.clused .sales officc::s hc,gan to !,prmg up m late 1957. Ry 19~8. there W<.'re 26 :s<.1les office~ in 
more than 100 t1orthem dncs. (Both courtesy of Carolyn Dcpcnbrock.) 
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Presenter
Presentation Notes
Example of 1950s architecture and of an advertisement by GDC for inexpensive homes similar to those built in North Port. These are historical structures since they are over 50 years of age. A Number of these types of homes exist in North Port. The original 5.628 +/- sq mile area of city at incorporation in 1959.
Why would we save and preserve any of these?
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